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/A SECOND impo.sing edifice designed by Masqueray is 
the Basilica of St. Mary (right) in Minneapolis. Unlike 
the Cathedral of St. Paul, it is without transepts. The 
main altar of the Basilica is pictured (above) in 1958. 

The first ma.ss was celebrated in the new church in 1914. 

IT IS INTERESTING to contrast Masqueray's front 
elevation drawing (left) for the Cathedral of St. Paul 
with the completed building (below), shoion during a 
special event in about 1918. The drawing is dated 1907. 
Although the cornerstone was laid on June 2, 1907, the 
exterior was not completed until 1915. The interior 
took even longer. 
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the crossing. Two towers flanked an entrance portico 
consisting of a pediment supported In lour columns — a 
device which b e c a m e s o m e t h i n g of a Masqueray 
trademark in most of his churches. The Wichita cathe­
dral is a rather simple, undignified structure, erected at 
an estimated cost of $125,000. This was a modest price 
even in 1909 and represented a somewhat scaled-down 
version of Masqueray's original, much more elaborate, 
plan.3' 

A second cathedral design, a much be t t e r one, 
emerged from bis hand in 1915. It was for St. Joseph's 
Cathedral in Sioux F;ills, South D;ikota. Although de­
signed by Masqueray, it was not constructed until after 
bis death. It was seen to completion by bis successor, 
Edwin Lundie, with George P. Harris of Sioux Falls 
acting as local supervising architect. Bids for construc­
tion totaling $275,000 were let in March, 1916, but costs 
had soared to more than $390,000 by the time the church 
was finished in September, 1919. The cathedral, like 
that in Wichita, was built on a Latin cross plan and in­
corporated features drawn from the French Romanesque 
and Renaissance. It was 225 feet long and 75 feet wide, 
and its 11.5-foot-high facade was flanked by twin 185-
foot-bigh towers. The exterior was faced in Bedford 
limestone and the interior in Kasota sandstone. The en­
tire edifice rested on a foundation of native granite. The 
cathedral had no dome, but Masqueray's band can be 
seen in the conscious effort to create a monumental 
structure. Not only is it approached by long flights of 
steps in the grand Beaux-Arts manner but its interior 
shows the architect's concern for effective distribution of 
light. The Sioux FaUs church, like the St. Paul Cathedral, 
is situated on a bluff overlooking the city center, its twin 
spires visible from many points in the city.''^ 

The third cathedral Masqueray designed outside 
Minnesota was the Cathedral of St. Mary in Winnipeg, 
Manitoba. Although designed in 1914 to cost $300,000, 
the church's construction was delayed until after World 
War I. By then, Masqueray's plans had been set aside in 
favor of those by a native Canadian architect, and the 
church was finally built in the 1920s. Masqueray's design 
has never been found and so it is not known what his 
plan for the cathedral might have been.' ' ' ' 

Masqueray became one of the leading designers of 
parish churches for the Roman Catholic church in the 
Midwest, again through the influence and friendship of 
Archbishop Ireland. Between 1909 and 1917, he buflt 
small churches in Parsons and Hutchinson, Kansas; 
Somerset , Wisconsin; Woonsocket , South Dakota; 
Cedar Falls, Decorah, Manchester, and Van Home, 
Iowa; and St. Paul, St. Peter, Rogers, Minneota, Mar­
shall, and Benson, Minnesota. All of these structures 
follow a familiar pattern: They were constructed in 
French or Italian Romanesque and Renaissance or 
Baroque styles, without transepts, usually of brick with 

IN SIOUX FALLS, the twin-spired Cathedral of St. 
Joseph overlooks the center of the city. Although de­
signed by Masqueray, it was built after his death. 

stone trim, symmetrically organized, with one or two 
spires often adjacent to the front entrance. Of modest 
size, almost all were built for under $40,000. They usu­
ally featured simple furnishings and a modicum of or­
namentation, yet were beautiful in their very simplic­
ity. "•* 

Masqueray also designed a few Protestant churches. 
These, it is interesting to note, were almost always 
Gothic in style in contrast to his Catholic churches, which 
usually were executed in Romanesque, Renaissance, or 
Baroque styles. St. Paul's Episcopal Church-on-the-Hill 
on Summit Avenue in St. Paul, finished in 1912, is an 
example of this pattern. It departs from the Catholic 
churches in a number of ways. Unlike them, it was de­
signed in the English Gothic style at the congregation's 
request. The commission was given to Masqueray after a 
brief competition. The church was built of stone taken 
from the previous structure instead of brick. A tall spire 
is set back to the left of the nave and at the beginning of 
the apse instead of being placed adjacent to the en-

'" Federal Writers' Project, Kansas: A Guide to the 
Sunfloivcr State, 298-299 (New York, 1939); Improvement Bul­
letin, April 4, 1908, p. 27. 

^^ Information from diocesan files at St. Joseph's Cathedral, 
Sioux Fiills. 

33 Builders' Exchange of St. Paul, Bulletin, April 27, 1914, 
n.p., in Northwest Architectural Archives, Universitj' of Min­
nesota, Minneapolis. 

3'' Masquerav' job list, owned by James Seagren, St. Paul; 
"Estate of E. L .Masqueray, Deceased," in Masqueray Papers, 
Catholic Historical Society. 
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ST. PAUL'S Episcopal Church-on-the-Hill on Summit 
Avenue, shown about 1915, is in the Gothic style Mas­
queray u.sed for Protestant churches he designed. 

trance. The nave's ceiling is supported by heavy wooden 
beams which rest on triangular wooden brackets set into 
the stone walls. A large rose window is above the main 
entrance. A quietly elegant church, it suffers from hav­
ing a roof with sharp angles in its steep pitch that tend to 
retain water. Moisture has thus seeped into the walls and 
damaged both them and the ceiling almost from the day 
the church was completed. The congregation threatened 
legal action against Masqueray unless he took corrective 
measures, but, despite his settlement of damage claims, 
the problem has persisted up to the present day.''^ 

Another Protestant church in St. Paul with a Mas­
queray design is Be th lehem Evangelical Lutheran 
Church at the corner of Forest and Margaret streets. 
Built in 1914 in the Gothic style, it features a corner 
tower and a rose window above the entrance. Gothic 
elements include windows and side gables.''^ 

MASQUERAY'S FIRST parish church commission was 
for St. Louis Church at Tenth and Cedar streets in St. 
Paul. Designed for a predominantly French Catholic 

"'^Henry F. Koeper, Historic St. Paul Buildings, 109 (St. 
Paul, St. Paul City Planning Board, 1964); author interview 
with Bill Hunt, parishioner. 

""Koeper, Historic St. Paul Buildings, 111. The stained-
glass windows in the chancel and the rose window were man­
ufactured and installed by Gaytee Studies of Minneapolis in 
1944-45. See "Bethlehem Church Appointments and Sym­
bols," n.p., n.d., brochure available at the church. 

"''This paragraph is based solely on the author's own ob­
servations of St. Louis Church. 

ANOTHER Protestant building designed by Masqueray 
is Bethlehem Lutheran Chwxh in St. Paul. Of red brick 
and in Gothic .style, it was built in 1914. 

congregation, the church was built in 1909 next to Cen­
tral Presbyterian Church and represents one of Mas­
queray's finest efforts in small church architecture. Like 
most of his other churches for Catholic parishes, it was 
built of red brick with limestone trim and in a late Italian 
Renaissance style. It departed from several of his other 
designs, however, in having clearly defined side aisles 
demarked on the interior by piers along each side of the 
nave supporting semicircular arches and on the exterior 
by projecting side bays. The church features very hand­
some Baroque towers flanking an entrance portico; the 
over-all church plan is rigidly symmetrical. The ceiling of 
the nave is supported by plastered ribs which are deco­
rated with a painted pattern."' ' 

ST. LOUIS CHURCH, with its Baroque towers, is a fine 
example of Masqueray's small church architecture. It is 
on the fringe of downtown St. Paid. 



CHURCH OF THE HOLY REDEEMER, razed for a 
freeway in 1967, was Masqueray's .second parish church 
commis.sion in St. Paul. 

Masqueray's second parish church commission in St. 
Paul was for the Church of the Holy Redeemer, e.xe-
cuted for an Italian Catholic congregation on College 
Avenue between St. Peter and Rice streets. Although a 
commission was initially received in 1912, the actual 
construction of the church was delayed until 1915 owing 
to conflict within the congregation over the choice of an 
appropriate site. The structure, reminiscent of Bocca 
della Verita Church in Rome, Italy, was the customary 
blend of Italian Romanesque and Renaissance charac­
teristics. Built of brick, with a long, narrow nave and 
windows set in pairs along both sides, it measured 131 
feet long by 46 feet wide. A single tower placed to the 
left of the main entrance rose to a height of 62 feet. The 
relatively undecorated interior had paired windows sur­
mounted by ornate lunettes and a broad, plain plastered 
ceiling which spanned the entire nave without support-

CHURCH OF THE INCARNATION 
in Minneapolis was the largest parish 
church Masqueray designed and also 
the last. As with several Masqueray 
churches, it was incomplete at the 
time he died. 

ing beams or ribs. Seating capacity for Holy Redeemei 
was 600. It was demolished in 1967 for construction of 
the right-of-way of Interstate 35E through St. P a u f * 

Masqueray's last parish church design was for the 
Church of the Incarnation at Pleasant Avenue and 
Thirty-Eighth Street in Minneapolis (1916-17). It was 
also the largest of the parish churches Masqueray de­
signed and, like the Cathedral of St. Joseph in Sioux 
Falls, was incomplete at the time of Masqueray's death. 
Incarnation has one 150-foot-high belfry tower and 
measures overall 120 feet at the transepts and 155 feet 
long. The semicircular vaulted ceiling of the nave is 60 
feet high and divided into five broad arches. The church 
was constructed of brick, with stone trim in an Italian 
basilica style on the plan of the Latin cross. As in St. 
Louis Church, Incarnation has side aisles separated from 
the nave by a row of piers supporting a series of arches. 
Ambulatories project from the sides of the church, and a 
row of windows forms a clerestory above. The nave seats 
1,200 people, while a choir gallery above the vestibule 
holds another 100 persons besides the choir. The facade 
features a series of Doric columns and balustrade above 
the three main entrance doors, and a rose window is set 
in the west front. Two tall windows flank the main en­
trance, two others are on each side of the rose window, 
and a series of arched panels extends into the gable, 
which is surmounted by a cross. The tower rises from 
beside the apse on a 24-square-foot base "like a lofty 
obelisk."''^ 

In addition to churches, Masqueray designed a few 
private residences, parochial schools (including several 
buildings for St. Joseph's College [later Loras Coflege] in 
Dubuque, Iowa), and chapels. A leading example of the 
latter is the Chapel of the Coflege of St. Thomas in St. 

"^Program for "30th Anniversary' Dinner, Church of the 
Holy Redeemer, Sunday, Januaiy 6, 1946" and untitled type­
written description of the Church of the Holy Redeemer, both 
in the Louis Pioletti Papers at the Immigration History Re­
search Center (IHRC), University of Minnesota, Minneapolis. 

^^Acta et Dicta, 5:123 Quh', 1917). 

ti 

54 Minnesota History 



AMONG MASQUERAY DESIGNS for college btnldings 
is the Chapel of the College of St. Thomas in St. Paul. It 
ivas completed after fiis death. 

Paul, designed in 1916 and dedicated on May 29, 1919. 
Archbishop Ireland was once again the guiding force. He 
not only urged the board of trustees to erect a chapel at 
the coflege but also saw to it that Masqueray received 
the commission. His design was a modern adaptation of 
Italian Renaissance basilicas, based on the Latin cross 
and built of red brick trimmed in hmestone. Here is a 
contemporary description: 

Its dimensions are those of a parish church. The 
main nave will be ninety-five feet in length by 
forty-three in breadth. On either side of the nave 
will be three altars in deep recesses. The chapels 
in the transepts are so arranged as to form part of 
the main body of the chapel. The sanctuary, 
square in form, opens onto ambulatories which 
give additional seating capacity. The sanctuary is 
thirty-seven by thirty-seven feet in size and affords 
room not only for the altar and the usual sanctuary 
furniture but also for a series of choir stalls for the 
members of the college faculty. The final cost of 
the building was about ninety-nine thousand dol­
lars. 

The chapel was still under construction when Mas­
queray died, and his assistant, Edwin Lundie, directed 
its completion in addition to designing the altar. The 
chapel was completely restored in 1977.'"' 

'^°Acta et Dicta, 5:122 (July, 1917); John A. Lee, "History 
of the College of St. Thomas and St. Thomas Military Academy 
Between the Years 1903-1921," 44 (unpublished M.A, thesis, 
St. Paul Seminary, 1957). 

""Minnesota Museum of Art, Edwin Hugh Lundie, 
F.A.I.A. (1886-1972), n.p. (St. Paul, 1972). This was a catalog, 
with text by Eileen Michels, for an exhibition of Lundie's 
works at the Minnesota Museum of Art, St. Paul, from 
November 16, 1972, to January 7, 1973. 

FROM THE TIME that Masqueray opened his office in 
St. Paul in 1905 until his death a dozen years later, it 
functioned as a training center for the next generation of 
architects. Although several dozen men probably passed 
through bis office in those years, we know very few of 
them by name. Three became his chief assistants and, 
following his death, successors: Edwin H. Lundie 
(1886-1972), Frank Abrabamson (1883-1972), and Fred 
Slifer (188.5-1948). They were all to become prominent 
architects in St. Paul in later years. Lundie bad attended 
Masqueray's atelier (begun in 1906) from 1911 to 1914 
and subsequently joined the firm as a draftsman. In 1913 
Masqueray helped found the Gargoyle Club, a local ar­
chitects' organization which promoted the arts and also 
provided informal instruction in drawing for young 
draftsmen.*' 

Although be maintained his headquarters in St. Paul 
after 1905, Masqueray continued to operate an office in 
New York untd at least 1916. His widowed mother, 
Henriette Marie Louise Masqueray, had joined him in 
the United States while he was still residing in New York 
and accompanied him first to St. Louis and then to St. 
Paul. She was bom on October 22, 1840, in France and 
died at the Masquerays' place of residence in the Aber­
deen Hotel, St. Paul, on February 27, 1913. Many 
people commented on Masqueray's devotion to her, 
which Whi tney W a r r e n once t e r m e d " s o m e t h i n g 
classical." Indicative of their very close relationship is 
the comment appearing on her death certificate under 
the "occupation " heading: "Companion to her son. " Un­
doubtedly, the staggering grief he must have felt follow-

EDWIN LUNDIE, an assistant to Masqueray, became one 
of his well-known .successors in St. Paul. 



ing her death precipitated a nervous breakdown he suf­
fered that same ycar.'*'^ 

Yet, he worked out of his depression and continued 
to conduct his life in the highb dignified manner to 
which his colleagues and accjuaiutanccs had become ac­
customed. Eyewitnesses recall that he had a high-
pitched, nasal voice with a strong French accent. He also 
had a readv' sense of humor. Mas(juera> was of medium 
height and stocky build and had sandy hair. He wore a 
beard which was always neatly trimmed to a point and a 
long mustache he curled upward with his fingers as he 
talked. His eyes were large and gray and his eyebrows 
heavy and busby. He v\'as always impeccably dressed in 
dark suits and usually wore topcoats with fur collars, but 
sometimes he wore capes. He usually sported yellow 
gloves and a cane. A young employee who worked in 
Masquerav's office during the last year of his life recalled 
seeing him pack nine silk shirts and two bottles of wine 
and little else in preparation for a trip.*'' 

Masqueray never married and apparently was never 
sorry he did not, although he did have a woman friend 
during the last year or two of his life. Also, he employed a 
Black valet and chauffeur named PurceO Haskins, who 
sat on a stool outside his office door. One had to state his 
business to Haskins before being shown into Mas­
queray's presence.'*'' 

In fiiiling health during the last year of his life, Mas­
queray was in the office only intermittently and was 
forced to suspend his atelier. During the winter of 
1916-17, he suffered from uremia and was reported to be 
quite ill but seemed to recover by spring and resumed 
his work. Then, on May 25, 1917, while riding to his 
office on a streetcar, he was stricken with a uremic at-

MASQUERAY'S DRAWINGS on p. 42 and p. 51 are from 
Western Architect, n.p. (October, 1908); the group photograph 
on p. 48 is from The Forest City, n.p. (St. Louis, 1904); the 
other photos on p. 48 and p. 49 are from The Universal Exposi­
tion Beautifully Illustrated, n.p. (St. Louis, 1904); the Cathe­
dral of St. Joseph photograph on p. .52 is by Alan Lathrop; the 
Bethlehem Lutheran Church photograph on p. 53 was taken by 
Eugene D. Becker for Hi.storic St. Paul Buildings, 11 (St. Paul, 
1964); the Lundie photograph on p. 55, by Allen R. Olson, is 
from Minnesota Museum of Art, Edwin Hugh Lundie, n.p. (St. 
Paul, 1972); the photographs of St. Louis Church (p. 53) and 
the Chapel of the College of St. Thomas (p. .55) are by MHS 
StaflF Photographer Elizabeth Hall; all other photographs are 
from the MHS audio-visual library. 

tack, lapsed into a coma, and died at 6:40 A.M. the 
following day at the City and County Hospital in St. 
Paul. His funeral was attended by a large number of 
dignitaries and fellow architects. Archbishop Ireland de­
livered the oration. On May 27 Masqueray was buried 
beside his mother in Calvary Cemetery. He left ten un­
completed commissions, which Lundie , Slifer, and 
Abrabamson finished as a continuation of his practice, 
and an estate of $38,181.53, which was equally divided 
among twelve cousins living in France.''^ 

Probably no one characterized Masqueray in more 
admiring terms than Ireland did at the funeral: 

He was the cultured gentleman, modeled on the 
best tiaditions of his native France. Charitable and 
kindly be was to all: always anxious to please, 
careful never to offend. And courtly he was in 
every word, in every stepping. Deeply sensitive to 
the approach of rudeness, he cjuickly bade his feel­
ings be stifled, and forced politeness where it at 
first had refused to show itself His mind was well 
stored with the fruits of long reading and correct 
thinking. A charm it was to meet him — a charm 
that grew the sweeter, as one drew nearer to him, 
and knew him in closer intimacy. One feature in 
his life, well known to all who were acquainted 
with him . was his continuous and kindly 
bearing towards his aged mother. [He] . was 
through his life a man of strong Christian faith.*® 
Emmanuel Louis Masqueray, a French architect in 

Minnesota, left an indelible mark on his adopted land 
through his work as an artist and architect. 

••^Swales, in Pencil Points, 5:59; Catholic Bulletin, June 
2, 1917, p. 1. Mrs. Masqueravs death certificate is at the St. 
Paul Public Health Department. 

''"Author interview with Ray Ganger, architect, St. Paul, 
February 6, 1976. 

''''Ganger interview, February 6, 1976. Ganger's recollec­
tion is borne out in a letter from attorney Louis M. Hastings of 
St. Paul, who was administrator of Masqueray's estate, to 
Andre Delamare of Rouen, France, June 21, 1917, in which 
Hastings mentioned Masqueray's friendship with a young 
French-speaking manicurist. The letter, in French, is in the 
Masqueray Papers. Information on Haskins came from an au­
thor interview with Jack Liebenberg, architect, Minneapolis, 
August 3, 1978. 

''^Obituarv in the/»iprorci)!C)i/ Bulletin, June 2, 1917, p. 
8, "Estate of E. L. Masqueray, Deceased," in Masqueray Pa­
pers; records relating to the disposition of Masqueray's will, 
Ramsey County Probate Court, File No. 26391, St. Paul. 

•*^Catholic 'Bulletin, June 9, 1917, p . l . 
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